## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 18-0167

Case Number: DA 18-0167

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

ROSS THOMAS INGMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court,  
Gallatin County, the Honorable Holly Brown, Presiding

---

## APPEARANCES:

CHRISTOPHER C. PETAJA  
Petaja Law  
13 S. Willson Ave, STE 3.  
Bozeman, MT 59715  
(406) 570-0440  
*chris@petajalaw.com*

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT  
AND APPELLANT

TIMOTHY C. FOX  
Montana Attorney General  
C. MARK FOWLER  
Appellate Bureau Chief  
Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Whether the district court erred in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss the felony charge of Driving Under the Influence (DUI) filed against him, based on a constitutionally infirm prior DUI conviction?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from a January 30, 2018, final judgment of the Eighteenth Judicial District Court, adjudging Appellant Ross Thomas Ingman ("Ingman") guilty of felony DUI (4<sup>th</sup> offense), a violation of § 61-8-401, MCA. (D.C. 73, Sentencing Order, attached as Ex. A). As authorized by § 46-12-204(3), MCA, Ingman pled guilty, reserving his right to appeal the district court's July 25, 2017, Order denying his Motion to Dismiss the felony charge on the basis of a constitutionally infirm predicate DUI. (D.C. 61, Order attached as Ex. B). During the July 11, 2017, hearing on the motion to dismiss, Ingman re-characterized the motion to dismiss as a motion to strike the felony enhancement of the DUI charge. (7/11/17 Hrg. Tr. at 59:17-18). The relief requested by Ingman under either designation was a dismissal of the felony designation of the offense.

The district court imposed a fine of \$5,000.00 and sentenced Ingman to a 13-month commitment to the Department of Corrections (DOC) and imposed an additional two years to the DOC, suspended, following completion of a residential alcohol treatment program approved by the DOC (typically WATCH). (D.C. Doc.

73). The district court stayed execution of this sentence, without objection from the State, pending the resolution of the instant appeal. (D.C. 75). This appeal timely followed.

### **COMBINED STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE**

By an Information filed March 24, 2016, the State charged Ingman with a felony DUI based on his three prior DUIs (Count I), a violation of § 61-8-401, MCA. (D.C. Doc. 3). This DUI charge was based on Ingman's act of operating his motor vehicle on March 12, 2016, heading eastbound on the frontage road parallel to Interstate I-90 between Belgrade and Bozeman, Montana. Officer Joseph Swanson stopped Ingman based on a RADD (Report a Drunk Driver) report for alleged weaving in his lane, tailgating, and otherwise driving erratically. (D.C. Docs. 1, 3). Based on his prior alcohol-related offenses, a search warrant was authorized and issued for Ingman's blood, the results of which revealed a BAC (Blood Alcohol Content) over the legal limit of 0.08.

The Affidavit of Probable Cause in support of the Information recited the following as Ingman's three prior alcohol related convictions: (1) a .08 violation out of Bozeman Municipal Court in 2007; (2) a DUI out of Bozeman Municipal Court in 2010; and (3) the conviction in dispute out of Helena Municipal Court for DUI in 2012. Notably, as discussed below, the conviction out of Helena Municipal Court was actually for a .08 violation and presumably incorrectly reported to the

Montana Central DMV records department in Helena.

Ingman filed an Omnibus Order on February 21, 2017, with notice of his intent to file a pretrial Motion to Strike a Prior DUI conviction and Dismiss the Felony Information. (D.C. 24). After an agreed upon motions deadline extension, briefs were filed and a hearing was held on July 11, 2017. (D.C. Docs. 26, 40, 52, 58). Ingman filed an opening brief containing several exhibits, including his Affidavit (Exhibit A), the minute order from the April 23, 2012 conviction showing it was actually a .08 conviction (Exhibit B), the court minutes from the December 29, 2011 arraignment and combined sentencing order (Exhibit C), and e-mail correspondence from the Helena Municipal Court clerk admitting Judge Wood's policy was to not record change of plea and sentencing proceedings despite declared a court of record in 2012 (Exhibit D). (D.C. 33). The State Responded and the Appellant Replied. (D.C. 38, 41).

At the hearing, the State presented its witnesses first. Acting Helena Municipal Court Judge Robert Wood (Judge Wood) testified that since he was the only municipal judge, he would have conducted the December 27, 2011, arraignment of Ingman and the April 23, 2012, change of plea proceedings in Ingman's case. (7/11/17 Hrg. Tr. at 5:11-7:9). Since Ingman had been arrested the night before, Judge Wood assumed he would have been shown a video advising him of his rights, but Judge Woods later admitted that since Ingman bonded out, he

would not have seen the video. (Tr. at 8:5-25; 16:25-17:21). Judge Wood testified that he does not have a specific script for advising defendants of their rights, but gives the “[t]he standard thing.” (Tr. at 8:7-12). When asked which rights were included on the video, he failed to mention whether he advised defendants of their right to confront or cross-examine the witnesses against them. On follow up by counsel, he testified that “I haven’t listened to it in a long time. I’m sure it’s in there.” (Tr. at 8:17-18).

Judge Wood noted that he checked the boxes and signed the initial advisement of rights form for Ingman after his arraignment. (Tr. at 9:10-6). There is no indication or evidence that Ingman reviewed or signed the form. Indeed, Judge Wood testified that defendants do not receive an acknowledgment of rights form. (Tr. at 19:4-7). No specific rights are included on the form signed by Judge Wood and did not include an advisory of the right to confront witnesses against him. (Exhibit C from D.C. 33) (Tr. at 10:7-14). When asked what rights he usually orally advises defendants at their initial appearance, Judge Wood testified that “all we do, I suppose” is “remind them” of their rights enumerated during the video and on the form, including the “right to call witnesses.” (Tr. at 11:16-12:3).

Judge Wood testified that he advised Ingman “of his rights” during the April 23, 2012, change of plea hearing. (Tr. at 12:14-15). When asked “what rights did you advise him of that date?” he replied, “the same rights” that he advised him

during arraignment. (Tr. at 12:19-21). When pressed further, Judge Wood testified that he likely would have advised Ingman of various rights, including “the right to witnesses.” (Tr. at 13:2-15). Judge Wood testified that his standard procedure before accepting a guilty plea from a criminal defendant is to advise a defendant that he is giving up certain rights:

I don't know if we have it through waiver, but we do explain that if they plead guilty, they give up the right to a trial; they give up the right to an appeal; they give up the right to testify; as we had in the original arraignment form.

(Tr. at 14:15-15:4).

When asked during cross-examination whether he gave the “same initial rights colloquy” to Ingman that he gave at the initial arraignment, Judge Wood responded “[n]ot precisely, perhaps, but similar.” (Tr. at 20:9-15).

As is evident from these excerpts of the record, the State attempted repeatedly to lead Judge Wood into testifying during the hearing that he advised criminal defendants of their right to confront and cross-examine witnesses, including Ingman, yet it is clear that Judge Wood never testified as such before the district court. However, Judge Wood did testify that he did not have a specific script of rights he read to criminal defendants, and could not recall exactly what rights he advised Ingman. And even when prompted, Judge Wood did not testify that he advised defendants, let alone Ingman, of his right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him.

After being corrected, Judge Wood conceded that the Helena Municipal Court became a court of record on March 1, 2010. (Tr. at 22:1-18). He testified that it was his responsibility to keep a record of all proceedings in his court, including Ingman's case. (Tr. at 23:8-25:25). Specifically, during the hearing the following question and answer session transpired between Judge Wood and defense counsel:

Q: Now, you're aware that it's my understanding that not all proceedings, arraignments, change of pleas were recorded, once the Municipal Court became a court of record?

A: Yes.

Q: And whose policy was that? Who made the decisions not to record all the proceedings?

A: I assume we all made that decision all together. I take responsibility for the decision.

Q: So you admit that not all proceedings were recorded?

A: I think that may be true, yes.

Q: So what proceedings were recorded?

A: Trials. Generally, speaking, appeals. Arguments on motions, and generally speaking pleas, as your client went through.

Q: Now, when you say, "generally speaking," when did that policy start because you're aware there is no recording of my client's plea, correct?

A: Policy was in effect. I have to assume that the failure to record your client was my responsibility and my fault.

(Tr. at 24:6- 25:2).

Ingman testified that he never watched a video advising him of his rights and that he was never advised of his rights prior to changing his plea. (Tr. at 34:5-3920). Specifically, he informed the district court that the April 23, 2012, hearing was "[e]xtremely informal" and that Judge Wood "did not" advise him of his right

to confront witnesses against him, of his right against self-incrimination, that he was giving up, completely, his right to go to trial, or the minimum and maximum penalties he faced by pleading guilty. (Tr. at 38:1-18). Ingman testified that “[t]here’s no doubt in my mind” Judge Wood did not advise him of his rights on April 23, 2012. (Tr. at 39:16-20). He also testified that his trial attorney did not advise him of his rights before changing his plea. (Tr. at 36:12-18).

Ingman testified that had he known of his rights, specifically his right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him, he “absolutely[would] not” have pled guilty because he would have liked to confront the investigating officer and the lab technician since his BAC level of 0.083 was so close to the legal limit of 0.08. (Tr. at 40:1-9). “I didn’t know my rights, so I pled guilty.” (Tr. at 46:6). Significantly, the State did not call Ingman’s attorney on the 2012 case, despite the fact that she could have testified as to their communications. *C.f. In re Gillham*, 216 Mont. 279, 282, 704 P.2d 1019, 1021 (1985) (specifying how counsel may reveal communications with the defendant).

After being questioned, *sua sponte*, by District Court Judge Holly Brown (over objection of defense counsel), regarding his memory of the change of plea hearing held on April 23, 2012, Ingman testified that he was expecting to show up for an Omnibus Hearing on that day, not a change of plea hearing, and that last-minute discussions were made in the hallway regarding the option of him pleading

to a .08 *per se* violation. Ingman testified that he was never presented a formal plea agreement in writing or a formal acknowledgement and written waiver of rights form. (Tr. at 49:1-57:16). Nor did the State present evidence of the same in order to refute or rebut Ingman's testimony.

Finding it significant that Ingman had an experienced and seasoned criminal defense attorney (Wendy Holton) representing him and got the plea benefit of a misdemeanor marijuana charge dismissed, Judge Brown denied Ingman's motion to dismiss, finding that while Ingman did meet his initial burden, Judge Wood's testimony, along with the arraignment advisement of rights form, established that Ingman likely would have been advised of his "basic rights." (Tr. at 63:2-68:9).

Specifically, Judge Brown made the following ruling:

At the change of plea, Judge Wood testified that he followed his standard procedure, which was, again, to advise of the rights. He, specifically, said that because this had been amended through a plea agreement from a second DUI to a *per se* second offense, and one of the drug charges was to be dismissed, that he would specifically have advised Mr. Ingman about his rights and explain what it meant to plead to the *per se* charge. When asked on cross-examination, by Mr. Petaja, about the Court's advisements, Judge Wood did testify that he would advise about the right to have a trial, or right to call witnesses, the right to speak or not to speak, and the right to remain silent. . . The position of the Defendant is that he was not advised, either by Ms. Holton or by Judge Wood, that he had the right to confront witnesses. Mr. Ingman indicated that if he had understood that, he would not have entered a guilty plea. However, based on the testimony of Judge Wood, the fact the Motions to Suppress and Motion in Limine had been filed . . . and then a plea was entered, pursuant to a plea agreement that included dismissal of one of the drug charges, that there was apparently a guilty plea to the possession of drug paraphernalia at the same hearing on

April 23<sup>rd</sup> that Mr. Ingman does not have any recall about. The Court finds that the State has met it's [sic] burden to support the constitutionality of the prior conviction, including that Mr. Ingman would have been advised, both by his attorney through the discussions regarding the motions that the attorney filed on his behalf, and in conjunction with whether Mr. Ingman was willing to enter a plea to the per se charge, as well as, the possession charge, and that there was consideration provided by the State in the form of dismissal of the drug possession charge. That Mr. Ingman would have been advised of those rights, and knowingly and voluntarily waived those rights . . . The affidavit provided by Mr. Ingman indicated that he was never informed by the Court of his constitutional and statutory rights before pleading to the per se violation. However, based on the testimony of Judge Wood and State's Exhibit 1, there was an advisement provided at the arraignment of the basic constitutional rights, and Judge Wood's testimony indicated that he, again, made that advisement, and further discussed the consequences of an entry of a per se plea. That the minimum and maximum sentence would have been discussed, and the rights included his right to a trial, his right to testify or not, his right to appeal, his right to question the exhibits and evidence provided by the State. So the Court's going to conclude that based on the testimony from Judge Wood, the testimony from Mr. Ingman, State's Exhibit 1, and the records associated with the Defendant's motion, including Defendant's Exhibit B, that the conviction for driving under the influence, as a per se charge, out of Helena City Court on April 23, 2012 is constitutionally sound, and the motion to exclude that charge as a prior conviction for enhancement purposes is denied.

(Tr. at 64:22-68:7).

A written order followed July 25, 2017. (D.C. Doc. 61). As is evident from the above excerpt, and as argued below, the district court's decision was in error. Not only does the ruling lack any meaningful legal analysis, but the district court's determination that Judge Wood advised Ingman of his right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him is not supported by an evidence or testimony in

the record. As such, the State did not meet its burden to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, the constitutionality of Ingman's predicate DUI in order to charge Ingman with a fourth felony DUI offense.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court erred when it denied Ingman's motion to dismiss, or alternative motion to strike, the felony DUI charge against him. Ingman met his initial burden to prove with affirmative evidence that his April 23, 2012, DUI conviction in Helena Municipal Court was constitutionally infirm as he was not advised of his right to confront or cross-examine the witnesses against him, or his right to a trial *de novo* in district court, based on the fact the municipal court proceedings were not recorded. The testimony of Helena Municipal Court Judge Bob Wood was not sufficient to meet the State's burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior conviction was constitutionally sound. Accordingly, Ingman respectfully requests the Court to reverse the district court's denial of his motion to dismiss the felony designation and remand for resentencing on a DUI 3<sup>rd</sup> Offense.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether a prior conviction may be used for sentence enhancement is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Rasmussen*, 2017 MT 259, ¶ 10, 389 Mont. 139, 404 P.3d 719 (citing *State v. Maine*, 2011 MT 90, ¶ 12,

360 Mont. 182, 255 P.3d 64). This Court also reviews *de novo* a district court's denial of a motion to dismiss in a criminal case. *State v. Seiffert*, 2010 MT 169, ¶ 10, 357 Mont. 188, 237 P.3d 669 (citing *State v. Samples*, 2008 MT 416, ¶ 13, 347 Mont. 292, 198 P.3d 803). A district court's findings of fact associated with the circumstances of a defendant's prior conviction are reviewed under a "clearly erroneous" standard. *Rasmussen*, ¶ 10 (citing *Maine*, ¶ 12). "A trial court's findings are clearly erroneous if they are not supported by substantial evidence, if the court has misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if our review of the record leaves us with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. *State v. Weaver*, 2008 MT 86, ¶ 9, 342 Mont. 196, 179 P.3d 534.

### **ARGUMENT**

"The Due Process Clause of Article II, Section 17, of the Montana Constitution 'protects a defendant from being sentenced based upon misinformation.'" *Rasmussen*, ¶ 12 (citing *State v. Chaussee*, 2011 MT 203, ¶ 9, 361 Mont. 433, 259 P.3d 783). "A constitutionally infirm prior conviction used for enhancement purposes constitutes 'misinformation of constitutional magnitude.'" *Chaussee*, ¶ 9 (quoting *United States v. Tucker*, 404 U.S. 443, 447 (1972)). Accordingly, it is well-established that the State is prohibited from using a constitutionally infirm prior DUI conviction to support an enhanced punishment

like a felony DUI charge or felony DUI designation. *Chaussee*, ¶ 9; *Maine*, ¶ 28; *State v. Okland*, 283 Mont. 10, 15, 941 P.2d 431, 434 (1997).

As argued below, Ingman met his ultimate burden to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his prior DUI was constitutionally infirm and therefore insufficient to support a felony DUI charge. On this record, reversal and remand is justified.

**I. A FELONY DUI CHARGE CANNOT BE SUPPORTED BY A CONSTITUTIONALLY INFIRM PRIOR DUI CONVICTION.**

In Montana, a criminal offender’s first, second, and third convictions for DUI are punished as misdemeanors. Section 61-8-714, MCA. The fourth or subsequent conviction is punished as a felony. Section 61-8-731, MCA. A rebuttable presumption of regularity attaches to a prior DUI conviction and this Court presumes that the convicting court complied with applicable law. *Rasmussen*, ¶ 14 (citing *State v. Krebs*, 2016 MT 288, ¶ 12, 385 Mont. 328, 384 P.3d 98); *State v. Howard*, 2002 MT 276, ¶ 10, 312 Mont. 359, 59 P.3d 1075 (citing *State v. Moga*, 1999 MT 283, ¶ 11, 297 Mont. 1, 989 P.2d 856 and *Okland*, 283 Mont. at 18, 941 P.2d at 436). In establishing otherwise, “the defendant has the burden to overcome the presumption of regularity by producing affirmative evidence and persuading the court, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the prior conviction is constitutionally infirm.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 14 (citing *Chaussee*, ¶ 13).

“Affirmative evidence” is evidence showing “that certain facts actually exist or, in the context of a collateral challenge, that certain facts actually existed at some point in the past.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 14 (citation omitted); *see also*, *State v. Snell*, 2004 MT 334, ¶ 29, 324 Mont. 173, 103 P.3d 503 (“[d]irect evidence is that which proves a fact without an inference or presumption and which in itself, if true, establishes that fact”) (citing § 26-1-102(5), MCA). Circumstantial evidence is permissible, however, the evidence “must show affirmatively that [a defendant’s] constitutional right was violated.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 17. While “[a]mbiguous documents” or “self-serving and conclusory inferences” are not enough to overcome the presumption of validity attached to a prior conviction, unequivocal sworn testimony by a defendant is sufficient. *Rasmussen*, ¶¶ 14, 20 (citations omitted). Additionally, “[a]n affidavit from the defendant, a witness, or court personnel attesting this sort of affirmative evidence will figure more persuasively in the calculus of whether the rebuttable presumption of regularity has been overcome than will, for example, references to unclear court minutes, judge’s notes, or preprinted forms.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 18.

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