IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 18-0167

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

ROSS THOMAS INGMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court,
Gallatin County, The Honorable Holly Brown, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

TIMOTHY C. FOX
Montana Attorney General
KATIE F. SCHULZ
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
Fax: 406-444-3549
kschulz@mt.gov

CHRISTOPHER C. PETAJA
Petaja Law
13 South Willson Ave., Ste. 3
Bozeman, MT 59715

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

MARTIN D. LAMBERT
Gallatin County Attorney
1709 West College St., Ste. 200

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

ARGUMENT

I. District court correctly concluded Ingman's 2012 DUI conviction may be used for sentence enhancement.

The Due Process Clause of Article II, Section 17, of the Montana Constitution "protects a defendant from being sentenced based upon misinformation." *Rasmussen*, ¶ 12 (citing *State v. Chaussee*, 2011 MT 203, ¶ 9, 361 Mont. 433, 259 P.3d 783); *Maine*, ¶¶ 28, 33 (applying well-established principle that a constitutionally infirm conviction may not be used to support an enhanced punishment). However, "[a] rebuttable presumption of regularity

attaches to [a] prior conviction, and [this Court will] presume that the convicting court complied with the law in all respects.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 14 (citation omitted); *Maine*, ¶ 33.

Thus, a “defendant has the burden to overcome the presumption of regularity by producing affirmative evidence and persuading the court, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the prior conviction is constitutionally infirm.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 14; (citing *Chaussee*, ¶ 13); *Maine*, ¶¶ 17, 33 (defendant has the “heavy burden” to present a preponderance of affirmative evidence establishing a prior conviction is invalid); *State v. Hancock*, 2016 MT 21, 382 Mont. 141, 364 P.3d 1258; *State v. Nixon*, 2012 MT 316, 367 Mont. 495, 291 P.3d 1154; *Johnson, supra*.

“Ambiguous documents, self-serving and conclusory inferences, and forcing the State to prove the validity of the prior conviction, when such validity is already presumed, do not suffice as affirmative evidence for purposes of meeting the defendant’s burden.” *Chaussee*, ¶ 18 (citation omitted). If the defendant satisfies his burden, the burden shifts to the State to rebut the defendant’s evidence. *Chaussee*, ¶ 10. However, as this Court has clarified,

the ultimate burden of proof—which includes both the burden of production and the burden of persuasion—shall be on the defendant, who must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the conviction is *invalid*. The burden is not on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the conviction is valid.

Maine, ¶ 34 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original); *Chaussee*, ¶ 12. To carry the burden of proof,

the defendant may not simply point to an ambiguous or silent record, but must come forward with affirmative evidence establishing that the prior conviction was obtained in violation of the Constitution. Self-serving statements by the defendant that his or her conviction is infirm are insufficient to overcome the presumption of regularity and bar the use of the conviction for enhancement.

Maine, ¶ 34; *Chaussee*, ¶ 12 (“ambiguous documents, self-serving and conclusory inferences” do not constitute “affirmative evidence” to overcome defendant’s burden). This Court has defined “affirmative evidence” as evidence demonstrating “that certain facts actually exist or, in the context of a collateral challenge, that certain facts actually existed at some point in the past—e.g., that an indigent defendant actually requested the appointment of counsel but counsel was actually refused.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 14 (citation omitted).

The court found that at the April 23, 2012 change of plea hearing, Judge Woods followed his standard procedure of advising Ingman of all his constitutional rights and ensuring Ingman understood the mandatory penalties for the amended offense, DUI per se. (Tr. at 64-67.) In making its ruling, the district court rejected Ingman’s specific claim that had he known he had a right to confront witnesses, he would not have pled guilty. (Tr. at 65-66.) In support of that finding, the court noted that Ms. Holton filed a motion to suppress and motion in limine challenging evidence seized by the officers, and at the time set for the evidentiary hearing (where he

would confront witnesses) Ingman pled guilty to the amended offense of DUI per se instead of proceeding with the hearing. (*Id.*) The court found the presence of an officer at the April 23, 2012 hearing corroborated that fact. (*Id.*)

The court found that the facts supported that Ingman would have been advised of his rights by the court and his counsel prior to pleading guilty and effectively withdrawing his motions to suppress and limine. (Tr. at 66-67.) The court questioned Ingman's recollection of events, noting that he had no recollection of pleading guilty to the drug paraphernalia charge. (*Id.*) The court further questioned Ingman's recollection of events observing that he claimed no recollection of the plea agreement despite the fact he obtained consideration from the City with its recommendation for house arrest and dismissal of the drug possession charge, which Ingman also failed to recall. (*Id.*)

The court's observations about the credibility of Ingman's recollections and Judge Woods' testimony about his standard procedures were oral findings of fact "supported by substantial evidence" and the district court did not "misapprehend[] the effect of that evidence." *Johnson*, ¶ 11. The district court, as the factfinder, was responsible for weighing the evidence and determining the credibility of the testimony presented and it is not this Court's role to reweigh the evidence. *See Nixon*, ¶ 21 ("The weight of evidence and the credibility of

witnesses are exclusively within the province of the trier of fact, and we will not reweigh the evidence or the credibility of witnesses.”); *Rasmussen*, ¶ 16.

The situation presented here mirrors *Nixon, supra* (held, district court’s findings not clearly erroneous, and Nixon failed to establish his conviction was constitutionally infirm). This Court concluded that despite Nixon’s “affirmative evidence” (*e.g.*, statements in his affidavit and during the hearing), he did not satisfy his ultimate burden of proof “which includes *both* the burden of production and the burden of persuasion . . .” *Nixon*, ¶ 19 (emphasis added) (defendant merely alleging the unconstitutionality of a conviction is insufficient to rebut the presumption of validity).

This Court noted that the probative value of Nixon’s affidavit was undermined by evidence presented at the hearing. *Nixon*, ¶ 20. *Nixon*, ¶ 21; *see also Hancock*, ¶ 14 (“In light of the [City Court Judge’s] testimony, we are not convinced by Hancock’s assertions in his affidavit and testimony” that his conviction was constitutionally invalid.).

The same is true here as evidenced by the court’s observations and questions concerning Ingman’s recollection of events when contrasted against Judge Woods’ testimony that he adhered to his standard procedures of advising Ingman of his rights prior to accepting his plea. Moreover, when Ingman executed his affidavit, his counsel had confirmed that no recording of the change of plea hearing was available to counter his claims. (Doc. 33, Exs. A, D.) The record supports the

court questioning the veracity of Ingman’s claims given the inconstancies in Ingman’s testimony and recollections as well as his lack of recollection of events that occurred. This is certainly true when contrasted to Judge Woods, who had four years of experience as judge and also experience as a prosecutor.

Similar to the circumstances presented here, in *Rasmussen*, this Court explained that “Rasmussen’s affidavit and testimony could have led the court to question his credibility and the probative force of his statements.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 16. For instance, as this Court observed, Rasmussen knew no court record was available to contradict the alleged constitutional violations, he claimed to remember some specific details (which supported his allegations) but could not recall other details, and he acknowledged having criminal history involving other jailable offenses that carried the same rights he claimed he was unaware of in 1996. *Rasmussen*, ¶ 16.

Moreover, this Court explained in *Rasmussen* that merely because a form does not demonstrate the defendant waived a specific right, it is not direct evidence that the defendant was denied that right. *Rasmussen*, ¶ 17. As this Court further explained, “the lack of evidence showing that the prior conviction is valid is not proof, by affirmative evidence, that the conviction is invalid.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 17 (citing *Chaussee*, ¶ 13). Rasmussen’s assertion “that he did not sign a waiver of his right to counsel ‘*is not proof of anything. It is absence of proof.*’” *Rasmussen*,

¶ 18 (citing *State v. Anderson*, 2001 MT 188, ¶ 22, 306 Mont. 243, 32 P.3d 750) (emphasis added).

Just as this Court observed in *Rasmussen* and *Anderson*, Ingman’s reliance on the absence of proof (*e.g.*, acknowledgement of rights and plea agreement or recording of the hearing) is insufficient to demonstrate his conviction was constitutionally infirm because “[s]imply submitting a document that does not prove regularity does not meet this burden of showing irregularity.” *Rasmussen*, ¶ 17. Ingman’s arguments, including his claim that “there is great suspicion of what is going on in Helena Municipal Court” (*see* Tr. at 59) was not persuasive. *See Chaussen*, ¶ 24 (“That the record may be ‘suspect’ is wholly insufficient to rebut the presumption of regularity.”).

Ingman’s reliance on *Howard*, *infra* is not persuasive. (Br. at 12-13, 16.) As this Court explained, “[o]ur decision in *Maine* expressly modified the framework of analysis applied in *Howard* and *Walker* by imposing the burden on the defendant to prove by affirmative evidence that the prior conviction was constitutionally infirm. *Rasmussen*, ¶ 20 (distinguishing *State v. Howard*, 2002 MT 276, 312 Mont. 359, 59 P.3d 1075; and *State v. Walker*, 2008 MT 244, 344 Mont. 477, 188 P.3d 1069 holdings that stated defendant’s statement, “I was not advised of my rights” constituted direct evidence sufficient to establish burden).

Moreover, *Howard* was decided prior to this Court’s statement in *Maine* that to establish a prior conviction is infirm, the defendant’s burden “includes both the burden of production *and the burden of persuasion.*” *Maine*, ¶ 34. Just as in *Nixon* and *Rasmussen*, Ingman failed to persuade the district court that he had not been advised of his rights, specifically his right to confront witnesses. Tellingly, when Ingman was cross-examined about his claim he did not know he could confront witnesses, his answers described dissatisfaction with Ms. Holton, not necessarily that he had no clue about confronting witnesses. Ingman’s claim may be more accurately characterized as faulting Ms. Holton for not explaining *how* the witnesses and evidence could be challenged.

Ingman failed to meet his burden by establishing that his 2012 conviction was invalid. The district court did not misapprehend the effect of the evidence and its findings were “supported by substantial evidence.” *Johnson*, ¶ 11. The district court correctly applied the law and did not err when it denied Ingman’s motion to reduce his felony DUI to a misdemeanor.

II. The lack of a recording of the 2012 change of plea hearing did not constitute an independent ground to reverse the district court’s order

On appeal, Ingman advances the following additional ground for reversal: “[R]eversal is justified based on the fact that Ingman was not informed that he was essentially pleading guilty to an offence in a city court, not of record, and that in

doing so, he was giving up his right to a *de novo* review in district court.” (Br. at 18.) However, Ingman did not maintain this issue with the trial court and, accordingly, the court did not issue any order or findings concerning whether he was denied a right to be advised of a trial *de novo*.

In his reply brief to the court, Ingman abandoned this claim by stating that “Ingman does not contend that his trial *de novo* right is at direct issue but the fact the Helena City [sic] Court was operating outside of the statutory requirements of a court of record is further circumstantial evidence that Ingman’s April 23, 2012 [conviction] is constitutionally infirm.” (Doc. 41 at 5.) At the hearing, while Ingman elicited testimony from Judge Woods about the lack of recording, he did not ask anything about advising defendants about a “right to trial *de novo*” if the recording device was not engaged by a court of record.

Thus, it is not surprising that the district court did not reference Ingram’s “right to trial *de novo*” claim. Nor did Ingman offer argument or request for a ruling on this discrete issue. Arguably, therefore, Ingman has not properly preserved this specific argument given this Court’s well-established rule that it is improper to fault a district court for issues it did not decide. *State v. Wetzel*, 2005 MT 154, ¶ 13, 327 Mont. 413, 114 P.3d 269. While it is true that Ingman suggested that he was denied advisement of a “right to a trial *de novo*” in his motion to dismiss, he specifically abandoned that argument in his reply and at the hearing. Instead,

Ingman asserted that the failure to record should be considered as evidence against Judge Woods' credibility. Under these specific circumstance, it would be unfair to reverse the district court's order based on Ingman's revived claim that the Helena Municipal Court violated its statutory duty as a court of record.

In addition, there is insufficient evidence in the record to establish that the lack of recording was a result of a court policy of not recording change of plea hearings. Judge Woods acknowledged that sometimes hearings did not get recorded, but he fully expected Ingman's change of plea hearing to have been recorded and testified that the lack of recording for the April 23 hearing was the result of "operator error."

As does happen in some court proceedings, the recording device was not initiated and, thus, no audio record of the hearing was available. This does not mean that the April 23 proceeding was therefore infirm. *See Hancock*, ¶ 13 (Court noted the prior conviction Hancock challenged was from a city court that was not a court of record at the time, so the district court had to rely on the credibility of the witnesses who were at the city court proceeding). Moreover, district court rules and rules of appellate procedure account for situations when court records are lost or destroyed. There is no assumption that standard court procedures were not followed. In fact, as this Court has consistently held, there is a presumption that courts know, and follow the law.

Finally, even if this Court considers this angle of Ingman’s appeal, his argument lacks a key logical component: nothing in the record suggested his trial, if he chose to proceed to trial, would not have been recorded. There is no such thing as a “change of plea hearing *de novo*.” Ingman’s reliance upon *State v. Davis*, 2016 MT 102, 383 Mont. 281, 371 P.3d 979, is misplaced. In *Davis*, Court considered whether a *trial* before a non-lawyer judge without a *de novo* appeal violated a defendant’s constitutional right to due process and concluded it did not. *Davis, supra* (held, no fundamental and essential right to a trial before a lawyer-judge).

First, unlike the precipitating fact raised in *Davis*, Judge Woods is a “lawyer-judge” and had also practiced as a city prosecutor prior to becoming judge. Second, the proceeding at issue in *Davis* was the *trial*, not a change of plea hearing. Ingman has not established how the lack of recording of his change of plea hearing precluded an effective appeal option to the district court. In fact, had Ingman made a timely appeal or request to withdraw his guilty plea, the parties would have been in a much better position to recreate the events of April 23, 2012.

Even if the court failed in its statutory obligation to record hearings, this Court has held that “mere statutory violation does not necessarily, in and of itself, arise to a constitutional violation.” *State v. Hass*, 2011 MT 296, ¶ 17, 363 Mont. 8, 265 P.3d 1221 (holding that even if statute directing procedure to

replace counsel should have been followed, defendant still needed to establish how his constitutional rights were violated).

At most, just as Ingman asserted in his reply brief, the court's failure to preserve a recording of the April 23 hearing could be considered circumstantial evidence related to the court adhering to its own standard operating procedures. The district court was presented with Ingman's theory about the court allegedly "choosing not to record" hearings as well as Judge Woods' explanations. It is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence or overrule the trier of fact's assessment of witness credibility. *Nixon*, ¶ 21; *Rasmussen*, ¶ 16.

CONCLUSION

The district court's order denying Ingman's motion to invalidate his 2012 DUI conviction for the purposes of sentence enhancement should be affirmed.